IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

No. 20 - 0187  
Grievance Commission No. 888

---

DAVID EBONG AKPAN,  
Respondent-Appellant,

vs.

IOWA SUPREME COURT  
ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY BOARD,  
Complainant-Appellee.

---

APPEAL FROM THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION

---

RESPONDENT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

---

DAVID L. BROWN  
TYLER R. SMITH  
Hansen, McClintock & Riley  
Fifth Floor, U.S. Bank Building  
520 Walnut Street  
Des Moines, Iowa, 50309  
Telephone: (515) 244-2141  
Facsimile: (515) 244-2931  
E-mail: [dlbrown@hmrlawfirm.com](mailto:dlbrown@hmrlawfirm.com)  
[tsmith@hmrlawfirm.com](mailto:tsmith@hmrlawfirm.com)

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLANT,  
DAVID EBONG AKPAN

**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

**I. DID THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION ERR IN FINDING DAVID AKPAN VIOLATED THE TEXAS RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT?**

*In re Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. 544 (1968)

*Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)

*Iowa S. Ct. Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Van Ginkel*, 809 N.W.2d 96 (Iowa 2012)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This is an appeal from the Grievance Commission's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation. It must be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa Ct. R. 36.22.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an attorney discipline case involving David Akpan, an Iowa licensed attorney who practices immigration law exclusively in Texas.<sup>1</sup> The Board alleged Mr. Akpan charged an unreasonable fee and failed to place funds in his trust account in his representation of the complainant, Rosa Villatoro. Mr. Akpan denies the allegations. The Commission found a violation and recommended a 61-day suspension. (App. p. 60)

Prior to hearing, the Grievance Commission ruled that Ms. Villatoro would be permitted to testify via video conferencing. This ruling was made over Mr. Akpan's objections that testimony via video conferencing violated his constitutional rights and the Grievance Commission Rules of Procedure which provides specifically:

**36.17(5)** The respondent may defend and has the right to participate in the hearing in person and by counsel to cross-examine, to be confronted by witnesses, and to present evidence.

**36.17(6)** The presentation of evidence must conform to the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure and the Iowa Rules of Evidence. The grievance commission chair or division president will determine all questions of procedure, including objections to evidence.

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Akpan is licensed to practice federal immigration law as he is admitted in the United States District Court and Bankruptcy Court for the Southern, Eastern, and Northern Districts of Texas. Mr. Akpan has never practiced law in Iowa despite having an Iowa law license.

A two-day hearing was held before the Grievance Commission at the Iowa Judicial Branch Building despite the matter having minimal connection to Iowa. The original complainant and the Respondent are both residents of the Houston, Texas, region. The Board brought allegations that Mr. Akpan violated the Texas Rules of Professional Conduct. The **only** connection this matter has to Iowa is Mr. Akpan's Iowa license to practice in this state.

The Board **failed** to carry their burden in proving the allegations against Mr. Akpan. The **only** credible factual testimony provided at the hearing came from Mr. Akpan. Mr. Akpan testified that he charged a flat fee and **earned all fees** after performing a tremendous amount of work on behalf of his client. Conversely, Ms. Villatoro did **not** provide credible testimony and actually admitted to **fraudulently misrepresenting** the status of her marriage to federal immigration officials in order to obtain permanent resident status for her husband!

The Commission entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation on January 30, 2020. (App. p. 42) In the Findings, the Commission included a section on the "Video Testimony". The Commission found that Ms. Villatoro's testimony was **not** relied upon in their ruling. In so finding, the Commission stated **if the video-testimony was in error, it was harmless error.**

As a result of their ruling on "Video Testimony", the Commission did **not** make a ruling on two critical issues squarely within the scope of their duties as a

Commission. First, the Commission **failed** to make any ruling on whether video testimony violated his rights to confront his accuser. Second, the Commission **failed** to make any credibility finding regarding the sole complainant, Ms. Villatoro.

Mr. Akpan's constitutional due process rights require the Board prove the allegations brought before the Grievance Commission by a convincing preponderance of the evidence. His rights further require the opportunity to face his accusers. These rights were violated in this case. The complaint against Mr. Akpan should accordingly be dismissed.



## STATEMENT OF FACTS

David Akpan is a licensed attorney originally from Nigeria. (App. 282) Mr. Akpan came to the United States in 1990 where he became a United States citizen through the legal immigration process in 1994. (App. pp. 282, 284). Mr. Akpan graduated from Thurgood Marshall Law School in Houston, Texas in 2003. (App. p. 286). In law school, his peers elected him to serve as the Chief Justice of the student Honor Court that addressed ethical matters related to students at his school. (App. p. 285).

Mr. Akpan obtained his law license in Iowa in 2010. (App. p. 287). He is also federally licensed in the United States District Court and Bankruptcy Court for the Southern, Eastern, and Northern Districts of Texas. (App. p. 288). He does not have a law license in the State of Texas and accordingly does not practice in the state jurisdiction in Texas. Mr. Akpan practices solely in the federal field of immigration law in the Houston, Texas region.

Mr. Akpan is married to Olayide Akpan. (App. p. 283). They recently became parents to their first son, Andikan Akpan. Andikan was born a month-and-a-half prior to hearing. Shortly before the original hearing date there were serious health concerns for the baby and mother. Due to the concerns the baby's due date was much sooner than originally anticipated. Mr. Akpan filed an emergency motion to continue so that he could be with his wife for the birth of his child. (App. p. 31).

Despite the distance from his residence in Richmond, Texas, to Des Moines, Iowa, and the fragile health of his newborn son, Mr. Akpan still presented to testify live before the Grievance Commission panel at the Iowa Judicial Branch Building. (The complainant, who was also living in the Houston region, testified by video conferencing and did not come to Iowa to be physically present!)

In early 2016, Mr. Akpan was approached by Rosa Villatoro seeking legal services on behalf of her husband Nelson Guzman. Ms. Villatoro is a United States citizen whereas her husband was in the United States on temporary protected status from El Salvador. (App. p. 206). Ms. Villatoro sought Mr. Akpan's immigration expertise to change her husband's residency status to permanent status. Prior to entering into a fee agreement Ms. Villatoro informed Mr. Akpan that Mr. Guzman had previously been convicted of fraudulent concealment – a crime of moral turpitude that could potentially prohibit him from obtaining permanent resident status. (App. p. 291).

Mr. Akpan conducted 10 hours of legal work with regards to how the Texas crime of fraudulent concealment would affect his ability to obtain permanent resident status before any contract was signed by either party. After conducting the necessary legal work to determine that Mr. Guzman was still eligible to obtain permanent resident status, Mr. Akpan entered into a **flat fee** agreement with Ms. Villatoro. (App. p. 64)

The fee agreement was signed in February 2016. The agreed upon sum was for \$4000.00 total with an initial payment of \$1500.00 due at the signing of the contract and \$500.00 paid in installments to begin on April 1, 2016. Ms. Villatoro eventually made all payments to Mr. Akpan. The payments made to Mr. Akpan were deposited into his operating account as he had already **earned** the fees.

Over the course of the representation, Ms. Villatoro was unwilling or unable to provide Mr. Akpan with the necessary documents to complete the immigration application on behalf of Mr. Guzman. Mr. Akpan continued to research and prepare immigration forms per the agreement. In total, Mr. Akpan estimates that he spent over 40 hours on Ms. Villatoro's case. (App. p. 296).

Eventually, Ms. Villatoro discovered that Mr. Guzman had a physical intimate relationship with an unrelated female. She therefore requested that Mr. Akpan discontinue his work on the immigration application as she was no longer willing to be the required sponsor for Mr. Guzman. (App. p. 296). Mr. Akpan's representation of Ms. Villatoro and Mr. Guzman was accordingly terminated at that time.

Ms. Villatoro alleges she thereafter retained Mr. Akpan with regards to obtaining a divorce from her husband. This allegation was denied by Mr. Akpan who is not licensed to practice family law in the State of Texas. Ms. Villatoro testified that she was eventually able to sponsor Mr. Guzman and obtain permanent residence for him. In so sponsoring her husband, Ms. Villatoro testified that she **fraudulently**

**withheld** from federal immigration services that she was seeking a divorce from Mr. Guzman. (App. p. 280). Ms. Villatoro testified via video conferencing claiming that she was unable to come to Iowa as she has to care for her children. (App. pp. 262-263).

JoAnn Barten, an immigration lawyer in Ames, Iowa, also provided testimony before the Grievance Commission panel. Ms. Barten provided no opinion as to the quality of Mr. Akpan's legal services or the reasonable fee for immigration services in the Houston region. (App. p. 63). Barten did testify that she uses a flat fee of \$3500 in her line of work and that she has once charged between \$12,000 and \$15,000 on a single case. (App. pp. 237-238, 243). There was **no testimony** provided related to flat-fee agreements, trust account management, reasonable fees, or immigration legal services in Texas. **No** Texas immigration lawyer testified on flat-fee agreements, trust account management, reasonable fees, or immigration legal services.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION'S RECOMMENDATION SHOULD BE REVERSED.

Error Preservation: This matter has been fully preserved in the pleadings and record before the Grievance Commission of the Iowa Supreme Court.

Scope and Standard of Appellate Review: The Court reviews attorney disciplinary proceedings *de novo*. “The Commission's findings and recommendations are given respectful consideration, but we are not bound by them. The Board has the burden of proving attorney misconduct by a convincing preponderance of the evidence.” *Iowa S. Ct. Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Piazza*, 756 N.W.2d 690, 692 (Iowa 2008) (internal citations omitted).

## ARGUMENT

David Akpan filed a written objection prior to hearing seeking to protect his constitutionally guaranteed rights to “participate in the hearing in person and by counsel to cross-examine, to be confronted by witnesses, and to present evidence.” Iowa Ct. R. 36.17(5); *see also In re Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. 544 (1968); *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004); (Objection to Bd. Witness). It was critical that he be afforded a **fair opportunity** to confront and cross-examine the complainant Ms. Villatoro because he was certain that she was not being truthful. It was critical that the Grievance Commission be afforded the opportunity to make a credibility finding for Ms. Villatoro. It was the **duty** of Commission to ensure that Mr. Akpan received

that opportunity and to make a **finding** on Ms. Villatoro's credibility. The Commission did neither.

The Commission permitted the video testimony of Ms. Villatoro over Mr. Akpan's objections only to later rule that their findings would not rely on her testimony at all! In so ruling, the Commission fails to make any finding related to Ms. Villatoro's credibility and evades the issue of whether the video testimony was permissible. The resulting prejudice is twofold for Mr. Akpan, culminating in a draconian sanction recommended by the Commission.

After two full days of hearings before the Grievance Commission panel the Board failed to produce any evidence that Mr. Akpan violated any of the allegations presented in the Amended Complaint. This is a case where the Board has alleged Mr. Akpan collected an unreasonable fee and failed to place unearned payments in a trust account in Texas. There were no other charges presented before the Commission and there were **no issues tried by consent**.

In a case where the Board alleged Mr. Akpan failed to deposit payments in a trust account, the uncontroverted evidence demonstrates Mr. Akpan had spent over 40 hours working complex issues **prior** to depositing the fees into his operating account. The fees had been earned long before the payments were received!

Further, in a case where the Board alleges the fee was unreasonable, there was no testimony or evidence, in any capacity, related to what constitutes a reasonable

fee for immigration services in Houston. Conversely, **all** testimony presented confirms that Ms. Villatoro paid a fair amount for the extensive services Mr. Akpan provided.

The problematic nature of the case presented by the Board does not end with the complete lack of evidence in support of their allegations. Mr. Akpan testified credibly as to the extensive legal services he performed on behalf of Ms. Villatoro. Conversely, Ms. Villatoro was not a credible witness and **admitted committing fraud** before federal immigration agents.

Further, **fundamental fairness** is at issue. Ms. Villatoro's testimony was not credible and the Commission gave it **no weight**. The only credible evidence was rendered by Mr. Akpan. In light of these issues, the violations alleged against Mr. Akpan were **not** proven by Board. The Complaint should be dismissed.

#### **A. Mr. Akpan did not violate the Texas Rules of Professional Conduct**

The **uncontroverted** evidence in the record clearly demonstrates Mr. Akpan spent several hours performing complex legal work on behalf of his client **prior** to collecting any payment from Ms. Villatoro. This work includes, but is not limited to:

- Legal work the clients' crime of moral turpitude did not jeopardize the immigration application process,
- Compiling and filling out relevant immigration forms,
- Communication with Ms. Villatoro requesting information for immigration application,
- Numerous one-hour trips to Ms. Villatoro place of work to retrieve

- documents and information, and
- Exhaustive research on the ever-evolving statutes and regulations in the field of immigration law.

For all of the services provided, which required approximately 40 hours, Mr. Akpan collected only \$4000.00. The issue of how he handled the flat-fee agreement is **moot** as he earned all fees prior to payment on fees.

The Board is required to prove each and every ethical violation by a convincing preponderance of the evidence. *Iowa S. Ct. Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Nelson*, 838 N.W.2d 528, 532 (Iowa 2013). “This standard is more demanding than proof by preponderance of the evidence, but less demanding than proof beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Iowa S. Ct. Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Ouderkirk*, 845 N.W.2d 31, 33 (Iowa 2014).

The Supreme Court of the United States has noted that attorney discipline cases are **quasi-criminal** in nature. Accordingly, the respondent attorneys in such cases require similar protections as criminal defendants. *In re Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. 544 (1968). Of these protections, the burden of proof resting with the Board, the prosecuting body in these cases, is one of the most important protections.

The right to confront your accuser is a constitutional guarantee meant to protect against the “the principal evil . . . [of the] use of *ex parte* examinations as evidence against the accused.” *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 50 (2004). The allegations against Mr. Akpan and have a direct impact on his livelihood -the



practice of law. Mr. Akpan is entitled to protections *greater* than a civil proceeding, and not less. *See In re Ruffalo*, 390 U.S. 544, 550 (1968).

Additionally, flat or fixed fees are legal in Texas. In fact, Rule 1.04 (b)(8) of the Texas Disciplinary Rules for Professional Conduct, specifically contemplates a fixed fee arrangement. The fee, whether flat or otherwise, is held only to a reasonableness standard.<sup>2</sup>

The Commission found Mr. Akpan charged or collected an unreasonable fee and neglected to place unearned fees in a trust account in violation of the Texas Rules of Professional Conduct. The Commission made this finding despite the **uncontroverted evidence** that Mr. Akpan and Ms. Villatoro had a flat fee agreement and all fees were earned prior to the receipt of payments.

As a first matter, without citing any legal authority the Commission found violations of Texas rules. There was **no** testimony supporting any such violation. There was **no** testimony related to flat fee arrangements in Texas. There was **no** testimony related to reasonableness of fees for immigration legal services in the Houston region.

The credible testimony provided by Mr. Akpan demonstrates an uncontroverted account of his representation of Ms. Villatoro. Ms. Villatoro, a

---

<sup>2</sup> **No** legal authority has been submitted suggesting the Iowa rule requiring flat fees be placed in a trust account is controlling in Texas.

United States citizen hired Mr. Akpan to represent her and her husband Nelson Guzman, a person residing in the United States on a temporary protected status. (App. p. 206). Ms. Villatoro sought Mr. Akpan's immigration expertise to change her husband's residency status to permanent status. Prior to entering into a fee agreement Ms. Villatoro informed Mr. Akpan that Mr. Guzman had previously been convicted of "fraudulent concealment" – a crime of moral turpitude that could potentially prohibit him from obtaining permanent resident status. (App. p. 291).

Mr. Akpan conducted approximately 10 hours of legal work with regards to how the Texas crime of "fraudulent concealment" would affect his ability to obtain permanent resident status **before** any contract was signed by either party. **After** conducting the necessary legal work to determine that Mr. Guzman was still eligible to obtain permanent resident status, Mr. Akpan entered into a flat fee agreement with Ms. Villatoro. (App. p. 64).

The fee agreement was signed in February 2016. The fee agreement was memorialized in writing in clear, unambiguous terms. (App. p. 64). The agreed upon sum was \$4000.00 total, with an initial payment of \$1500.00 due at the signing of the contract and \$500.00 paid in monthly installments to begin on April 1, 2016. Ms. Villatoro eventually made all payments to Mr. Akpan. The payments made to Mr. Akpan were deposited into his operating account as he had already earned the fees.

Over the course of the representation, Ms. Villatoro was unwilling or unable to provide Mr. Akpan with the necessary documents to complete the immigration application on behalf of Mr. Guzman. Mr. Akpan continued to research and prepare immigration forms per the agreement. In total, Mr. Akpan conservatively estimates that he spent over 40 hours on Ms. Villatoro's and Mr. Guzman's case. (App. p. 296).

Mr. Akpan spent numerous hours preparing immigration forms and researching the ever-evolving rules and regulations related to immigration law. Mr. Akpan also spent a tremendous amount of time making requests for more documentation from Ms. Villatoro. On several occasions, Mr. Akpan made the hour-long trip to Ms. Villatoro's office in an attempt to collect more documents. It is uncontroverted that Mr. Akpan spent numerous hours working on Ms. Villatoro's immigration application. The fees were reasonable.

The Commission, without citing any evidence in the record, dismisses Mr. Akpan's credible testimony regarding the hours he spent working on Ms. Villatoro's application. There was **no** testimony or documentary evidence refuting the legal work actually performed by Mr. Akpan. The Commission's disregard of Mr. Akpan's uncontroverted testimony is in error.

Eventually, Ms. Villatoro discovered that Mr. Guzman had an extramarital affair. She requested that Mr. Akpan discontinue his work on the immigration

application as she was no longer willing to be the required sponsor for Mr. Guzman. (App. p. 296). Mr. Akpan's representation of Ms. Villatoro and Mr. Guzman was accordingly terminated at that time.<sup>3</sup>

It should be noted that Mr. Akpan was ready, willing, and able to complete the immigration application on behalf of his client throughout his representation of the parties. The only reason he did not complete the application was because Ms. Villatoro did not provide him the necessary documents to complete the packet.

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