In the Supreme Court of Iowa

Supreme Court No. 20-0187 Grievance Commission No. 888

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board,

Appellee,

VS.

David Ebong Akpan,

Appellant

Appeal from the Report of the Iowa Supreme Court Grievance Commission

Appellee's Final Brief

Wendell J. Harms, AT0003209
Iowa Judicial Branch Building
1111 East Court Avenue
Des Moines, IA 50319-5003
Telephone: (515) 348-4684
Fax: (515) 348-4699
wendell.harms@iowacourts.gov

Attorney for Appellee

Statement of Issues Presented for Review

I. The Grievance Commission did not err in finding that David E. Akpan violated Texas Rules of Professional Conduct 1.04(a) and (b), 1.14(a) and (c), and 1.15(d)

Cases

Archer v. State Bar of Texas 548 S.W.2d 71 (Tex. Civ. App. 1977)

Bellino v. Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline 124 S.W.3d 380 (Tex. App. 2003)

Brown v. Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline 980 S.W.2d 675 (Tex. App. 1998)

Cluck v. Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline 214 S.W.3d 736 (Tex. App. 2007)

Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline v. Eisenman 981 S.W.2d 737 (Tex. App. 1998)

Eureste v. Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline 76 S.W.3d 184 (Tex. App. 2002)

Fry v. Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline 979 S.W.2d 331 (Tex. App. 1998)

Wade v. Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline 961 S.W.2d 366 (Tex. App. 1997)

Other Authorities

1 Fla. Coastal L. J. 293 (1999)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101

Iowa R. of Prof'l Conduct 32:8.5(b)(2)

Texas Comm. on Prof'l Ethics Opinion 391, 1978 WL 14284 (1978)

Texas Comm. on Prof'l Ethics Opinion 431, 1986 WL 69161 (1986)

Texas Comm. on Prof'l Ethics Opinion 611, 74 Tex. B. J. 944 (2011)

Texas Disciplinary R. of Prof'l Conduct

Texas Disciplinary R. of Prof'l Conduct 1.04(a)

Texas Disciplinary R. of Prof'l Conduct 1.04(b)

Texas Disciplinary R. of Prof'l Conduct 1.04(b)(2)

Texas Disciplinary R. of Prof'l Conduct 1.14(a)

Texas Disciplinary R. of Prof'l Conduct 1.14(c)

Texas Disciplinary R. of Prof'l Conduct 1.15(d)

II. The Grievance Commission did not err in permitting Rosa Villatoro to testify by two-way video conference

Cases

Attorney Disciplinary Bd. v. Taylor 887 N.W.2d 369 (Iowa 2016)

Comm. on Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Behnke 276 N.W.2d 838 (Iowa 1979)

Comm. on Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Bromwell 389 N.W.2d 854 (Iowa 1986)

Comm. on Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Hurd 375 N.W.2d 239 (Iowa 1985)

Comm. on Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Wilson 235 N.W.2d 117 (Iowa 1975)

Crawford v. Washington 541 U.S. 36 (2004)

In re Estate of Rutter v. Rutter 633 N.W.2d 740 (Iowa 2001)

In re Ruffalo 390 U. S. 544 (1968)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n v. Kraschel 148 N.W.2d 621 (Iowa 1967)

Maryland v. Craig 497 U.S. 836

State v. Rogerson 855 N.W.2d 495 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Tompkins 859 N.W.2d 631 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Williams 695 N.W.2d 23 (Iowa 2005)

Statutes

Iowa Code § 624.3 Iowa Code § 633.33

Other Authorities

Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.1701(3)(b)

III. The Grievance Commission did not err with regard to assessing Rosa Villatoro's testimony

Other Authorities

Iowa Ct. R. 36.19

IV. The Grievance Commission's recommended sanction of a 61-day suspension is appropriate

Other Authorities

Annotated Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions (2d ed., Ellyn S. Rosen, ed., 2019)

Routing Statement

The Supreme Court should retain this case because under Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101 "[t]he Supreme Court shall ordinarily retain the following types of cases: ... e. Cases involving lawyer discipline."

Statement of the Case

Nature of the Case

The Attorney Disciplinary Board (Board) brought this lawyer disciplinary action against David Ebong Akpan (Akpan) alleging violations of the Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct (Rules).

Course of Proceedings and Disposition

On March 27, 2019, the Board filed its Complaint against Akpan.

Complaint. On April 23, 2019, Akpan filed his Answer. Answer.

On August 15, 2019, the Board filed its Amended Complaint (AC).

On August 26, 2019, Akpan filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint.

Amended Answer (AA).

On October 7 and 8, 2019, the Grievance Commission (Commission) heard and received the parties' evidence.

On January 30, 2020, the 608th Division of the Commission filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation. Commission Report (Report).

Commission's Conclusion

The Commission concluded that Akpan violated Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct 1.04(a) and (b), Rule 1.14(a) and (c), and Rule 1.15(d). Appendix (App.) pages (pp.) 54-59.

Commission's Aggravating Circumstance

The Commission concluded that this aggravating factor existed as to Akpan: multiple rule violations. App. p. 59.

Commission's Mitigating Circumstances

The Commission concluded that these mitigating factors existed as to Akpan: 1) cooperative in the disciplinary process, filing responses in a timely fashion and participating in the hearing before the Commission and 2) serves an underserved community of low-income immigration applicants. App. p. 59.

Commission's Recommendations

The Commission recommended that the Court suspend Akpan's law license for a period of not less than 61 days and, before reinstatement of his license, require Akpan to complete at least 4.75 hours of continuing legal education offered by the State Bar of Texas on the topics of managing client funds, managing a trust account, nonrefundable retainers, and establishing and operating a solo practice. App. p. 60.

Akpan's Appeal

On February 4, 2020, Akpan filed his notice of appeal with the Commission clerk. App. pp. 61-62.

Statement of the Facts

The Board is a Commission of the Supreme Court of Iowa. AC/AA \P 1. App. pp. 13, 35.

Akpan has a license to practice law in Iowa that he obtained in 2010. AC/AA¶ 3. App. pp. 13, 35. Akpan does not hold a Texas law license. AC/AA¶ 4A. App. pp. 13, 35. Akpan is admitted to practice law in the United States District and Bankruptcy Courts for the Southern, Eastern, and Northern Districts of Texas. AC/AA¶ 4B. App. pp. 13, 35. Akpan files annual reports with the Client Security Commission and the Commission

on Continuing Legal Education in Iowa and pays the annual assessments. AC/AA \P 5. App. pp. 13, 35.

Akpan resides in Richmond, Texas, and practices immigration and bankruptcy law in Texas. AC/AA ¶ 6. App. pp. 14, 35. Akpan's Iowa law license enables him to represent immigration clients before the U. S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) agency and the Immigration Court system and bankruptcy clients in three federal bankruptcy and district courts in Texas. AC/AA ¶ 7. App. pp. 14, 35. Akpan's office is in Houston, Texas. AC/AA ¶ 7A. App. pp. 14, 35.

On February 23, 2016, Villatoro retained Akpan to represent her and her husband, Nelson Alberto Guzman (Guzman), who, at the time, was in the United States lawfully on Temporary Protected Status (TPS). AC/AA ¶ 8. App. pp. 14, 36.

Villatoro and Guzman reside in Katy, Texas. AC/AA ¶ 8A. App. pp. 14, 36. Villatoro is a citizen of the United States. AC/AA ¶ 8B. App. pp. 14, 36. Guzman is a citizen of El Salvador. AC/AA ¶ 8C. App. pp. 14, 36.

The Secretary of Homeland Security previously designated El Salvador for TPS for El Salvadorans who were in the United States since February 13, 2001, due to conditions in El Salvador that temporarily prevent its nationals from returning safely or where the country is unable

to handle the return of its nationals adequately. AC/AA \P 8D. App. pp. 14, 36.

On February 23, 2016, Villatoro and Akpan executed a fee agreement (Agreement) which stated the following in relevant part with respect to legal services involved and attorney fees:

LAW OFFICES OF DAVID E. AKPAN

Attorneys & Counselors At Law
2306 BLODGETT STREET, 2ND FLOOR
HOUSTON, Texas 77004

ATTORNEY CLIENT AGREEMENT AND POWER OF ATTORNEY

1. Date of Contract: 2 - 23 - 16
2. Name of Client: <u>Nelson Alberto Gozman</u>
3. Address of Client: 4219 Prairie meadow Dr
Katy TX 77449
4. Phone Number: 281-650-8852
5. Legal Services Involved: 1-485, 1-130
6. Agreed Legal Fees:
Pursuant to our oral discussion and based upon the information you provided to our Law
Firm. You, Rosa 1 VOIA 4070, agree to hire The Law Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above.
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above. 7. FEES 204 24-24-24
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above. 7. FEES Our legal fees for the representation will be \$7,000.00 excluding the filing and expenses as explained in the item 10 below. The fees will cover consultations with you and your
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above. 7. FEES Our legal fees for the representation will be \$7,000.00 excluding the filing and expenses as explained in the item 10 below. The fees will cover consultations with you and your authorized representatives, the opposing party and any other party that we deem necessary
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above. 7. FEES Our legal fees for the representation will be \$7,000.00 excluding the filing and expenses as explained in the item 10 below. The fees will cover consultations with you and your authorized representatives, the opposing party and any other party that we deem necessary for effective disposition of your matter. The fees will also cover research into your legal
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above. 7. FEES Our legal fees for the representation will be \$7,000.00 excluding the filing and expenses as explained in the item 10 below. The fees will cover consultations with you and your authorized representatives, the opposing party and any other party that we deem necessary
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above. 7. FEES Our legal fees for the representation will be \$7,000.00 excluding the filing and expenses as explained in the item 10 below. The fees will cover consultations with you and your authorized representatives, the opposing party and any other party that we deem necessary for effective disposition of your matter. The fees will also cover research into your legal matter. Procurements of information from government agencies and courts of law. 7(a) Allocation of Fees and Schedule of Payment
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above. 7. FEES Our legal fees for the representation will be \$7,000.00 excluding the filing and expenses as explained in the item 10 below. The fees will cover consultations with you and your authorized representatives, the opposing party and any other party that we deem necessary for effective disposition of your matter. The fees will also cover research into your legal matter. Procurements of information from government agencies and courts of law. 7(a) Allocation of Fees and Schedule of Payment (i) Initial Payment: \$1,500
Offices of David E. Akpan to represent you as your attorney in the matter described in item 5 above. 7. FEES Our legal fees for the representation will be \$7,000.00 excluding the filing and expenses as explained in the item 10 below. The fees will cover consultations with you and your authorized representatives, the opposing party and any other party that we deem necessary for effective disposition of your matter. The fees will also cover research into your legal matter. Procurements of information from government agencies and courts of law. 7(a) Allocation of Fees and Schedule of Payment

8. The above fees in item 7 do not include appeals of denials, regular appeals, post judgment or services. If such services are required, additional fees will be negotiable.

14. **DISCHARGE AND WITHDAWAL**

Client may discharge Attorney at any time. Attorney may withdraw with Client's consent or good cause. Good cause includes Client's breach of Agreement, refusal to cooperate or to follow Attorney's advice on material matter or any fact and circumstance that would render Attorney's continuing representation unlawful or unethical. Good cause also includes Client's failure to promptly make payments pursuant to the Agreement. When Attorney's services conclude, all unpaid charges will immediately become due and payable.

15. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties. No other agreement, statement, or promise made on or before the effective date of this Agreement will be binding on the parties.

Accepted by client:

Client Signature

Kosa L. VPllatoro

AC/AA ¶ 9 App. pp. 14-16, 36 & App. pp. 64-66.

Paragraph 10 of the Agreement stated: "COMMENCEMENT OF REPRESENTATION Client is hereby notified that legal services will not be rendered and client's file will be placed on hold until clients make payment as described in item 7 above." AC/AA ¶ 9A App. pp. 16, 36 & App. p. 65.

Paragraph 11 of the Agreement stated, in part: "The Law Offices of David E. Akpan does not guarantee or make any promise as to the outcome of your matter Further more, we cannot guarantee the exact amount of your total cost to you in pursuing this matter." AC/AA ¶ 9B App. pp. 16, 36 & App. p. 65.

The Agreement identified two legal services: I-485 and I-130. AC/AA ¶ 9C App. pp. 16, 36 & App. p. 64.

The Agreement did not state or establish an hourly rate for Akpan's services. AC/AA ¶ 9D. App. pp. 16, 36.

The Agreement established that the \$4,000 fee was related to compensating Akpan for the actual performance of services. AC/AA \P 9H App. pp. 17, 36 & App. p. 64.

For a Form I-485 application filed prior to August 26, 2017, Guzman needed to complete and file Form G-325. AC/AA ¶ 9L. App. pp. 17, 36. With a Form I-485 application filing, Guzman needed to complete and file USCIS Form I-864, Affidavit of Support Under Section 213A of the INA; this form is used to show that Guzman is not inadmissible on public charge grounds. AC/AA ¶ 9M. App. pp. 18, 36. With a Form I-485 application filing, Guzman may have needed to complete and file USCIS Form I-131, Application for Travel Document; this form is used to authorize Guzman to return to the United States after travel abroad while the Form I-485 application is pending. AC/AA ¶ 9P. App. pp. 18, 37.

In the processing of a Form I-485 application, Villatoro and Guzman would have received an appointment to go to the local USCIS office for an adjustment of status interview for final adjudication of the

Form I-130 petition filed by Villatoro and the Form I-485 application filed by Guzman. AC/AA ¶ 9R. App. pp. 18, 37.

If the Form I-130 petition and Form I-485 application process was successful, Guzman would have received permanent resident status, a green card, allowing Guzman to live and work permanently in the United States. AC/AA \P 9S. App. pp. 19, 37.

On February 23, 2016, the same date Villatoro and Akpan executed the Agreement, Villatoro wrote Akpan a check in amount of \$1,500 for legal services. On February 25, 2016, Akpan deposited the \$1,500 check into his operating account. AC/AA ¶ 10 App. pp. 19, 37 & App. p. 67.

On February 23, Villatoro and Akpan signed a partially completed DHS Form G-28, Notice of Entry of Appearance as Attorney. AC/AA ¶ 10B App. pp. 19, 37 & App. pp. 68-69. Akpan never filed Form G-28 for Villatoro and Guzman with USCIS. AC/AA ¶ 10C. App. pp. 19, 37.

Akpan's February 26 email stated, in part: "Please find attached Immigration forms and other documents that I'll need in order for me to file your husband's application." AC/AA ¶ 11A App. pp. 19, 37 & App. p. 70. Akpan's February 26 email had these documents attached: a) Initial Evidence 2, b) Form g-325a, c) Form i-130, d) Form i-131, e) Form i-485, f) Form i-693, g) Form i-864, and h) Houston Immigration Civil Surgeons.

AC/AA¶11B App. pp. 19, 37 & App. p. 70. The first sentence of the Initial Evidence 2 document attached to the February 26 email read: "Please provide the following information and or documents below in order to file your adjustment of status with the U.S. Homeland Security (Immigration & Naturalization Services)." AC/AA¶11C App. pp. 20, 37 & App. pp. 71-72.

On April 1, 2016, Villatoro wrote a check to Akpan for \$500, and on April 4th, Akpan deposited it into his operating account. AC/AA \P 12 App. pp. 20, 37 & App. p. 73.

On May 5, 2016, Villatoro wrote a check to Akpan for \$500, and Akpan deposited it into his operating account on May 9th. AC/AA ¶ 13 App. pp. 20, 37 & App. p. 74.

On June 15, 2016, Villatoro wrote a check to Akpan for \$500, and on June 16th, Akpan deposited it into his operating account. AC/AA \P 14 App. pp. 20, 37 & App. p. 75.

On August 30, 2016, Villatoro wrote Akpan a check for \$500, and on August 31st, he deposited it into his operating account. AC/AA \P 15 App. pp. 21, 38 & App. p. 89.

On September 23, 2016, Villatoro wrote Akpan a check for \$500, and he deposited it into his operating account on September 27th. AC/AA \P 16 App. pp. 21, 38 & App. p. 90.

Villatoro paid Akpan a total of \$4,000 in legal fees pursuant to the terms of the Agreement. AC/AA \P 17. App. pp. 21, 38.

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